IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-99

JUAN DAVID RODRIGUEZ,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RACHEL L. DAY Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0068535

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL

COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL -

101 N.E. 3rd Ave. Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

SOUTH

(954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit,

Dade County, entered the judgments of conviction and

sentence under consideration.

Mr. Rodriguez was charged by indictment dated May 3, 1989 with first degree murder, armed robbery, conspiracy to commit a felony, attempted armed robbery, armed burglary with an assault, aggravated assault and attempted murder in the first degree. He pled not guilty.

Mr. Rodriguez' trial was held in January, 1990. A jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts and recommended a death sentence by a vote of twelve to zero.

On March 28, 1990, the trial court imposed the death sentence on Count I, a life sentence on Count II, fifteen years on Count IV, life on Count V, five years on Count VI and a life sentence on Count VII. A sentencing order, was entered on the same date.

This Court affirmed Mr. Rodriguez' convictions and

sentences on direct appeal. <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 493 (Fla.1992). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on October 4, 1993.

On September 12, 1994, over a year before the two year deadline for his Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Rodriguez filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion. The State served a response on July 17, 1995. On October 4, 1995, Mr. Rodriguez filed an amendment to his Rule 3.850 motion. The State responded on April 2, 1996. Following public records litigation, Mr. Rodriguez filed further amendments on July 31, 1997, and March 13, 1998. Following a Huff hearing, the lower court granted limited а very evidentiary hearing. The hearing was restricted to mental health issues relating to ${\tt Mr.}$ Rodriquez' mental retardation, and did not address the numerous mitigating factors arising from Mr. Rodriguez' social and cultural background. Similarly, Mr. Rodriguez was not afforded the opportunity to present evidence as to his claim that the trial court had signed a sentencing order prepared by the State, and thus not afforded Mr. Rodriguez an independent

weighing of mitigation at his penalty phase. No hearing was granted on any of Mr. Rodriguez' claims relating to his guilt phase. The hearing was held on April 5,6,7, and 12, 1999. The lower court denied relief by order dated November 29, 1999 whereupon Mr. Rodriguez timely filed a notice of appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

- The lower court erred in denying Mr. Rodriguez a new 1. There was evidence presented at the penalty phase. limited evidentiary hearing that showed that trial counsel unreasonably failed to investigate and present evidence of Mr. Rodriguez' mental retardation, brain damage and other health issues. mental Mr. Rodriguez was afforded constitutionally deficient representation by his counsel and inadequate mental health expert assistance. This evidence was not rebutted by State witnesses. should be granted.
- 2. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Rodriguez' claims relating to non statutory family

background and cultural mitigating circumstances at the penalty phase. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate a plethora of non statutory mitigation, including, inter alia, evidence of abuse, poverty, neglect, and trauma from Mr. Rodriguez' immigration experience, together with the fact that the trial court did not conduct an independent weighing of the little mitigation that was in fact presented, and signed a sentencing order that was prepared by the State. Mr. Rodriguez should be afforded a new evidentiary hearing on these issues and thereafter granted a new penalty phase.

- 3. Mr. Rodriguez is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing on all the claims relating to the guilt phase of his capital trial raised in his Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Rodriguez pleaded specific detailed claims for relief, including claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, Ake and Brady claims which are legally sufficient and are not refuted by the record.
- 4. Mr. Rodriguez has been denied access to the files and records in the possession of certain state agencies

which pertain to his case. The trial court erred by refusing to hear Mr. Rodriguez' motion to compel production of supplemental public records, by ignoring the provisions of the then new Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852, and by denying Mr. Rodriguez the opportunity to amend his Rule 3.850 motion accordingly.

- 5. The trial court was biased and prejudiced throughout Mr. Rodriguez' capital trial, resentencing and post conviction proceedings. This is indicated, interalia, by his signing of a sentencing order prepared by the State and by his ex parte communication with the State during postconviction.
- 6. Constitutional error occurred during the jury instructions and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object. These errors include, including the majority verdict instruction, the burden shifting instruction, the Caldwell error, the improper doubling of aggravating circumstances, and the automatic felony aggravating circumstance.
 - 7. The prosecutor urged the jurors during his closing

argument at penalty phase to sentence Mr. Rodriguez to death on the basis of inflammatory, improper comments and numerous impermissible aggravating factors.

- 8. Florida's death penalty statute denies Mr. Rodriguez his right to due process of law and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment on its face and as applied to this case.
- 9. Due to omissions and inaccuracies in the record on appeal of Mr. Rodriguez' capital trial, neither this Court, nor any future reviewing court could conduct full review to determine the extent to which Mr. Rodrigueez' constitutional rights were violated.
- 10. The Rules prohibiting Mr. Rodriguez from interviewing jurors are unconstitutional and juror misconduct occurred.
- 11. Impermissible victim impact was considered in sentencing Mr. Rodriguez to death.
- 12. Because of cumulative error, Mr. Rodriguez did not receive the fundamentally fair trial to which he was entitled under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

ARGUMENT 1

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. RODRIGUEZ A NEW PENALTY PHASE AFTER THE LIMITED EVIDENTIARY HEARING

A. INTRODUCTION

The Court in part grants defendant's request for an evidentiary hearing. Said hearing shall be limited to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel set forth in claims 3 and 8 of the 3rd amended motion for rule 3.850 relief. The issue defined is the question of mental retardation at the penalty phase.

(PCR. 2354) (emphasis added).

The lower court granted an evidentiary hearing only on the failure of trial counsel to investigate and present mental health mitigation relating to Mr. Rodriguez' mental retardation at Mr Rodriguez' penalty phase. No hearing was granted on any other aspect of Mr. Rodriguez' claims that his trial counsel was ineffective at his penalty phase, nor was a hearing given on any other issue relating to Mr. Rodriguez' penalty phase.

At the evidentiary hearing Mr. Rodriguez presented

testimony from Mr. Rodriguez' trial attorney, Kalisch, which, when taken with the trial record, showed that Mr. Kalisch did not commence investigation into Mr. Rodriguez' mental condition until after the guilt phase was over; that he accepted the recommendation of the prosecutor as to the appointment of an expert to evaluate Mr. Rodriguez; that although he thought Mr. Rodriguez was not very intelligent, he did not obtain neuropsychological recommendation by testing despite the the recommended clinical psychologist; that he did not obtain any formal assessment of Mr. Rodriguez' intelligence quotient; and that he did not attempt to investigate Mr. Rodriguez' family history in Cuba. Mr. Rodriguez also testimony of Board Certified presented the а neuropsychologist, Dr. Ruth Latterner, which supported his contention that Mr. Rodriguez is mentally retarded, has organic brain damage, and that these factors support a finding that Mr. Rodriguez was under extreme mental and emotional disturbance at the time of the incident, and that he was unable to appreciate the criminality of his

conduct or conform it to the law.

The State attempted to counter Mr. Rodriguez' evidence by the testimony of Dr. Leonard Haber, a clinical psychologist who had briefly examined Mr. Rodriguez immediately prior to his penalty phase. Dr. Haber did not perform any neuropsychological testing and did not administer any formal intelligence testing. Furthermore, he neither requested, nor was supplied with background information about Mr. Rodriguez' early life in Cuba. Based on his limited examination, Dr. Haber agreed that Mr. Rodriguez had low intellectual functioning and thought that there might be a possibility of brain damage. However, without further investigation, he opined that the statutory mental health mitigating circumstances did not apply because Mr. Rodriguez had "street smarts" The lower court chose to accept the findings of Dr. Haber in supporting his conclusion that Mr. Kalisch was ineffective regarding Mr. Rodriguez' penalty phase, despite the fact that Dr. Haber's opinion had swayed dramatically between the time of Mr. Rodriguez' trial and the evidentiary hearing.

However, as noted <u>supra</u>, the scope of the evidentiary hearing was severely limited so that no evidence of non statutory mitigation from family members, teachers or cultural experts was admitted. Such evidence would not only have supported Mr. Rodriguez' mental retardation and brain damage and the concomitant statutory and nonstatutory mental health mitigation, but also would have provided valuable insight into Mr. Rodriguez' background of, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, poverty, abuse, neglect and cultural adaptation that could and should have been presented to his sentencing jury. Even standing alone, the record of the evidentiary hearing does not support the lower court's conclusion that Mr. Rodriguez' trial counsel was not ineffective.

When taken with the additional penalty phase error alleged by Mr. Rodriguez but summarily denied by the lower court, it is clear that Mr. Rodriguez should be granted a new penalty phase.

B. TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO

INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATION

I was not impressed with this gentleman's street smarts. <u>I have seen street smart individuals</u>, and this was not street smart.

(T. 236, Volume 10) (emphasis added).

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); to establish a Sixth Amendment violation, a defendant must establish (1) deficient performance, and (2) prejudice.

Id. at 687. Recently, the United States Supreme Court in Williams v. Taylor, 120 S.Ct. 1495 (2000), reemphasized the continuing vitality of the <u>Strickland</u> test and reiterated what the standards are with respect to capital cases and how they are to be properly applied.² The Supreme Court makes it clear that Mr. Rodriguez "had a right--indeed a constitutionally protected right--to

²The Supreme Court granted relief to Mr. Williams, the first time the Court has granted relief on the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel as to the penalty phase of a capital case. As demonstrated at the hearing Mr. Rodriguez' case is even stronger than Mr. Williams' and his entitlement to relief is clearly established under the Williams decision.

provide the jury with the mitigating evidence that his trial counsel either failed to discover or failed to Williams, 120 S.Ct. at 1513. Counsel in a capital case has a duty to conduct a "requisite, diligent investigation" into his client's background for potential mitigation evidence. <u>Id</u>. at 1524. <u>See also id</u> at 1515 ("trial counsel did not fulfill their obligation to conduct a thorough investigation of the defendant's background"); State v. Riechmann, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S163 (Fla. Feb. 24, 2000) ("an attorney has a strict duty to conduct a reasonable investigation of a defendant's background for possible mitigating evidence"). "It seems apparent that there would be few cases, if any, where defense counsel would be justified in failing investigate and present a case for the defendant in the penalty phase of a capital trial." Id.

It is abundantly clear that Mr. Kalisch failed to conduct the "requisite, diligent" investigation into Mr. Rodriguez' background to unearth available and plentiful mitigation. Williams, 120 S.Ct. at 1524. Trial counsel's

failure to investigate caused the adversarial process to collapse completely at Mr. Rodriguez' penalty phase. The trial record itself reflects that, despite having over a year to prepare and investigate for the penalty phase, no adequate mental health investigation was conducted. Only after the jury had found Mr. Rodriguez guilty did counsel attempt to obtain evidence of mental health mitigation.

Mr. Rodriguez was tried during January 1990, and found guilty of first degree murder on January 31, 1990 (R.221-222). Yet it was not until February 7, 1990, a week after the guilty verdict, that trial counsel Scott Kalisch filed a "Motion to Retain an Independent Psychiatric Examiner". (R.228-229). This delay, in and of itself, constitutes ineffective assistance. Blanco v. See Singletary, 943 F. 2d at 1501-02. "To save the difficult and time-consuming task of assembling mitigation witnesses until after the jury's verdict in the guilt phase almost insures that witnesses will not be available." also Deaton v. Dugger, 635 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1993), in which Mr. Deaton's trial counsel was found ineffective for

failing to investigate mitigation evidence until after the conclusion for the guilt phase. Mr. Deaton's trial counsel had testified at the Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing that it was his practice not to prepare for penalty phase until the guilt phase was over. This Court granted relief because counsel's "shortcomings were sufficiently serious to have deprived Deaton of a reliable penalty phase proceeding." Id The same considerations apply equally to Mr. Rodriguez' case.³

On February 27, 1990, Dr. Haber completed an evaluation of Mr. Rodriguez, and on the same day was deposed by Assistant State Attorney John Kastrenakis. ⁴See PCR. Supp. 633-686. It is clear from the transcript of

In Mr. Rodriguez' case, especially, the complexity of the case and the logistical aspects of investigating, procuring and presenting foreign national witnesses rendered it crucial that the penalty phase investigation be commenced as early as possible and not just at the commencement of the penalty phase.

Admittedly, Mr. Kalisch requested and was granted another continuance of the penalty phase. However, the reason for this continuance was not to prepare for Mr. Rodriguez' penalty phase, but rather to allow Kalisch to work on a personal injury case in Puerto Rico. (R.230-231).

the deposition that Mr. Kalisch had never previously spoken with Dr. Haber and had no idea of either the scope of his evaluation or his conclusions and recommendations.

[by Mr. Kalisch] My problem is I have never spoken to Doctor Haber and I don't know what Mr. Rodriguez told Doctor Haber, and based on that I don't know what I should advise Doctor --Excuse me, I mean Mr. Rodriguez, to do regarding what I believe to be a privilege between a client and a lawyer.

(PCR. Supp 638)(emphasis added). Mr. Kalisch was apparently so preoccupied with an out-of-state personal injury case that he was unable to make the time to either telephone or meet with Dr. Haber, his own mental health expert, prior to the state's deposition.

Mr. Kalisch's evidentiary hearing testimony both clarified and exacerbated the omissions by trial counsel reflected in Mr. Rodriguez' trial record. In addition to being manifestly unprepared for the penalty phase, he was simply unqualified to be conducting a complex capital trial and penalty phase unaided:

[by Mr. Strand] Had you had any experience whatsoever in preparing a

capital penalty phase?

[Mr. Kalisch] No, I did not, no.

- Q. Had you attended any C.L.E.'s or anything like that?
- A. No, I did not, no.
- Q. Did you receive this training in law school relating to mental health mitigation for a capital case?
- A. No, I did not, no.

(T.203, Volume 10).

In addition, both the trial record and Mr. Kalisch's evidentiary hearing testimony made clear that Mr. had exhibited numerous bizarre behaviors Rodriquez throughout the trial proceedings. However, while Mr. Kalisch had observed numerous instances of Mr. Rodriguez' odd behavior before and during his trial proceedings, he had no clear idea of how that behavior might be symptomatic of a mental condition pertinent to mitigation:

[by Mr. Strand]..Was Mr. Rodriguez your average client or was he different?

[Mr. Kalisch] In what respect?

- Q. In his involvement in his own defense.
- A. He was on the low scale of a person who would become involved in his own defense. There are some clients who become very actively involved in their own defense, and others not involved in the defense at all.

He was on the low scale of people who are involved in their defense.

We didn't talk about the facts of the case or the upcoming trial.

He tried me a few times by some of the things he did, the way he acted, so my memory of Mr. Rodriguez is that he is a person who didn't really take an active part in his own defense.

- Q. Did he seem concerned that he may get the death penalty?
- A. No, he did not seem concerned.
- Q. <u>Did that seem unusual to you</u>?
- A. Well, that was my first death penalty case, and it certainly did seem unusual that somebody could be that blase about it, but he seemed blase about it.
- (T.212, Volume 10)(emphasis added).

* * *

- Q. Do you recall when Mr. Rodriguez was actually sentenced to death?
- A. Yes, I do, yes.
- Q. Could you describe his reaction?
- A. I believe, if I remember correctly, he was, let's see. <u>He reacted by making a statement</u>, making a gesture that was flippant, I mean, insofar as my opinion. <u>That's what I remember</u>.
- Q. Did this seem unusual to you?
- A. Yes.

(T.215 Volume 10)(emphasis added).

In addition, the trial record reflects, and Mr. Kalisch confirmed in his evidentiary testimony that Mr. Rodriguez exhibited unusual courtroom behavior:

[Mr. Kalisch] Well, the record reflects that Mr. Cassidy (sic) pointed out the fact that the defendant would sleep in his chair, not pay attention, sleep, do things that were unusual.

I believe that anyone would have to come to that conclusion.

[by Mr. Strand] In your experience, is that unusual in your representation of

criminal defendants?

A. I thought it unusual, yes.

(T.212, Volume 10). Furthermore, on cross examination Mr. Kalisch admitted that he had some doubts about Mr. Rodriguez' ability to function normally. When asked it Mr. Rodriguez possessed "street smarts", Mr. Kalisch responded emphatically:

I was not impressed with this gentleman's street smarts. <u>I have seen street smart individuals</u>, and this was not street smart.

(T.236, Volume 10)(emphasis added).

The sheer eccentricity of Mr. Rodriguez' behavior and demeanor in and out of the courtroom should have put Mr. Kalisch on notice that further investigation into Mr. Rodriguez' mental condition was warranted. Indeed, based on Dr. Haber's report, Mr. Kalisch requested and was granted an EEG examination. However, trial counsel failed to follow up the other recommendation provided by Dr. Haber - that neuropsychological testing be performed.

When counsel is aware, or should have been aware of a

client's mental health problems, reasonably effective representation requires investigation and presentation of independent expert mental health mitigation testimony at the penalty phase. See, e.g., Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 572 (Fla. 1996)(finding deficient performance for failing to investigate client's mental health background); State v. Michael, 530 So. 2d 929, 930 (Fla. 1988)(once counsel is on notice of a client's mental health problems, failure to investigate by obtaining independent experts' opinions on applicability of statutory mental health mitigating factors is "so unreasonable as to constitute substandard representation, the first prong of Strickland test"); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354, 1355-56 (Fla. 1984)(failure conduct to proper investigation into client's mental health background when issue is relevant to claim of mental health is at ineffective assistance of counsel); Perri v. State, 441 So. 2d 606, 609 (Fla. 1983)(notice of mental problems "should be enough to trigger an investigation as to whether the mental health condition of the defendant was

less than insanity but more than the emotions of an average man, whether he suffered from a mental disturbance which interfered with, but did not obviate, his knowledge of right and wrong" such that "he may still deserve some mitigation of his sentence").

Mr. Kalisch failed to investigate the connection between Mr. Rodriguez' outlandish conduct and his severe impairments. He failed to conduct full investigation into Mr. Rodriguez' brain damage and mental retardation. His failure to follow up on these glaring clues as to Mr. Rodriguez' mental retardation, low intellectual functioning, and brain damage was in part a result of his profound ignorance of mental health principles as they relate to capital litigation. This, again is demonstrated by his evidentiary hearing testimony:

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