# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-99

# JUAN DAVID RODRIGUEZ,

Appellant,

vs.

# THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

# LISA A. RODRIGUEZ

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0109370 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

#

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

Additionally, Defendant alleges that Judge Carney's bias against Defendant is illustrated by his sentencing order that

alleged was prepared by the State after ex parte communication. Defendant never raised this allegation in his motion for post-conviction relief but instead ore tenus raised the allegation for the first time at Defendant's Huff hearing. (T., vol. 6, 337). As Defendant had been in possession of the State Attorney Office's files for nearly two years prior to the Defendant's Huff hearing that contained the alleged unsigned sentencing order prepared by the State, the basis for a motion to disqualify was certainly untimely. (T., vol. 6, 337-38). Mills v. State, 684 So. 2d 801, 804-05 (Fla. 1996). Accordingly, without addressing the merits of Defendant's motion, Judge Carney properly denied the motion to disqualify. (T., vol. 6, 351).

As such, claims related counsel's alleged failure to object to Judge Carney's alleged bias against Defendant during his trial and sentencing are meritless and should be denied.

## B. ALLEGATIONS PERTAINING TO JUDGE CARNEY'S BIAS ON POST-CONVICTION ARE WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant contends that Judge Carney has exhibited bias and prejudice against Defendant on post-conviction by: (1) engaging in ex parte communications with the State concerning the scheduling of hearings; (2) releasing witnesses who did not possess any public records pertinent to Defendant's case from appearing at Defendant's December 6, 1996, public record hearing;

(3) and allegedly engaging in ex parte communication with the State concerning public records from the State to be reviewed *in camera*.

Defendant's claim that Judge Carney illustrated bias against Defendant by engaging in alleged ex parte communications with the State concerning the scheduling of an evidentiary hearing is without merit. Contrary to Defendant's assertion, "ex parte communication" is not per se ground for disqualification as a matter of law." Nassetta v. Kaplan, 557 So. 2d 919. 921 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); See Arbelaez v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S586 (Fla. July 13, 2000) (judges ex parte communication with the prosecutor involving settling a time period for the State to respond at which time a date for an evidentiary hearing would be set did not require a judge's disqualification); see also Harris v. P.S. Mortgage and Investment Corp., 558 So. 2d 430, 431 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990)(judge's prior, ex parte order approving settlement in mortgage foreclosure action did not require judge's disqualification). In Rose v. State, 601 So. 2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1992), this Court held that "a judge should not engage in any conversation about a pending case with only one of the parties participating in that conversation. Obviously, this would not include strictly administrative matters not dealing in any way

with the merits of the case." (emphasis original). As in Arbelaez, Defendant's allegation of ex parte communication involves setting a hearing date for an evidentiary hearing. As such, this administrative matter does not rise to the level of ex parte communication warranting recusal.

Defendant also complains that Judge Carney was biased against him when he allegedly excused subpoenaed witnesses from appearing at Defendant's evidentiary hearing on December 6, 1996. The record reflects that three witnesses were excused by Judge Carney that had advised the court that they possessed no relevant public records and were also served late for the hearing. (T., vol. 3, pg. 19-20). As the three witnesses excused by the court, Morgan Rood, Bill Camper and Dennis Williams, possessed no public records responsive to Defendant's subpoena, Defendant was not prejudiced by their absence at the hearing.

Defendant further alleges instances of Judge Carney's bias against Defendant on post-conviction occurred when Judge Carney engaged in ex parte communications with the State regarding documents submitted by the State for in camera inspection. The basis of Defendant's claim is the transference of said documents to Judge Carney. However, as previously discussed communications pertaining to strictly administrative matters do not require disqualification of the judge. Arbelaez v. State, 25 Fla. L.

Weekly S586 (Fla. July 13, 2000). Additionally, Defendant argues that Judge Carney should be have been disqualified once became "a material witness in the case" when the documents reviewed in camera and determined by him to not be public record were lost.

Defendant also complains that Judge Carney should have been disqualified when he became a witness regarding the loss of the non-public record documents from the State Attorney's Office that he had reviewed in camera. However, the record of hearing on December 6, 1996, reveals the extent of Judge Carney's testimony was that more than 10 pages of hand-written notes had been given to him by the Assistant State Attorney for his in camera review and that upon his conclusion of the review, he had re-sealed the documents for the clerk but could not remember whether he handed to the clerk or his secretary and that he had searched his office and could not find the documents. (T., vol. 4, 285-88). documents, consisting of hand-written notes, of the subject testimony were determined to not be public record; hence, their loss poses no prejudice to Defendant nor forms no basis for Judge Carney's disqualification. As Judge Carney became a witness at Defendant's behest, Defendant should not now be heard to complain of alleged error he created.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS PERTAINING TO THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS.

Defendant contends counsel was ineffective for failing to object to allegedly unconstitutional jury instructions concerning the aggravating circumstances of Defendant's case. Defendant did not raise the constitutionality of the jury instructions at trial or on direct appeal. As such, this issue is procedurally barred and cannot be raised in this motion for post-conviction relief. See Hodges v. State, 619 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1993); Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991). Defendant cannot avoid the procedural bar by merely couching a procedurally barred issue in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Kight v. Dugger, 574 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

As such, the trial court properly denied this claim.

Defendant also contends the trial court erred by improperly instructing the jury regarding burden of proof to find death appropriate Defendant's case. This issue could have or should have been raised on direct appeal. As, such Defendant's claim is procedurally barred. Lambrix v. State, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994); Bryan v. State, 641 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 1994); Chandler v. State, 634 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1994); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993). Furthermore, the courts have repeatedly rejected the claim that the instruction improperly shifts the burden of proof. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 649-51 (1990); San Martin v.

State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1350 (Fla. 1997); Kennedy v. State, 455 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1984); Arango v. State, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla. 1982). Thus, counsel would not have been ineffective for failing to raise this meritless claim, and the claim was properly summarily denied. See Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1995); see also Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494 (11th Cir. 1990).

Defendant alleges that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments by the trial court and prosecutor that allegedly violated Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). However, this claim could or should have been raised on direct appeal and is therefore procedurally barred. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991). Moreover, given that the comments did not incorrectly state the jury's role in the capital sentencing procedure, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise this non-meritorious issue. Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998); Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 107 (Fla. ), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1991).

Under Caldwell, error is committed when a jury is mislead regarding its responsibility for a sentencing decision so as to diminish its sense of responsibility for that decision. However,

"[t]o establish a Caldwell violation, a defendant necessarily must show that the remarks to the jury improperly described the role assigned to the jury by local law." Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989). This Court has recognized that the jury's penalty phase decision is merely advisory and that the judge does make the final sentencing decision. Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-58 (Fla. 1988). As the trial court properly advised the jury that their role was to render an advisory opinion, the trial court did not improperly characterized the jury's role under Florida capital punishment procedures or did not violate Caldwell. Davis v. Singletary, 119 F.3d 1471, 1481-85 (11th Cir. 1997). As such, the trial court properly denied this claim.

Defendant's argument that the jury was improperly instructed on a unconstitutional and vague automatic aggravating circumstance is also procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal. Accordingly, the lower court correctly summarily denied this claim. (S.R. 337). Lambrix v. State, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994); Bryan v. State, 641 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 1994); Chandler v. State, 634 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1994); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993).

Additionally, Defendant charges that to the extent counsel failed to object to the automatic aggravating circumstance, counsel was deficient. However, "this Court has held there is no

merit to the argument that an underlying felony cannot be used as an aggravating factor." Freeman v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S451 (Fla. June 8, 2000)(citing Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1997)); Arbelaez v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S586 (Fla. July 13, 2000). Thus, Defendant cannot show that the outcome of his trial was affected by counsel's failure to object to these aggravating factors. As such, the trial court properly denied this claim.

VII. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM REGARDING ALLEGED PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED, NON-MERITORIOUS AND WAS CORRECTLY DENIED BY THE LOWER COURT.

Defendant alleges that the State introduced and argued impermissible non-statutory aggravating factors to the jury. To a large extent, this issue was litigated on direct appeal and rejected by this Court. Rodriguez, 609 So. 2d at 500-501. Other alleged acts of misconduct by the prosecutor, which were not raised at trial and on appeal, are likewise procedurally barred. Blanco v. Wainwright, 507 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

VIII. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Defendant argues that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied in his case, because

execution by electrocution and/or lethal injection is cruel and unusual punishment under the constitutions of both Florida and United States. This claim was raised on direct appeal and rejected by this Court. Rodriguez, 609 So. 2d at 500. As such, the instant claim is procedurally barred. Wuornos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 n.5 (Fla. 1994). Merely re-framing a procedurally barred issue does not raise the bar. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991).

# IX. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM FOR INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO ENSURE COMPLETE RECORD OF TRIAL TRANSCRIPTS IS WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant contends that he was denied ineffective assistance of counsel of trial and appellate counsel's failure to ensure a complete record of his trial proceedings when defense counsel's opening statement was not transcribed. However, ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is not properly raised in a 3.850 motion. Additionally, as the missing transcripts were known at the time of the appeal but not raised on appeal, the issue is procedurally barred. See Delap v. State, 350 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 1977). Moreover, Defendant has not shown what issues he was prevented from raising because of the un-transcribed portion of defense counsel's opening. Thus, the claim is not proper for a motion for post-conviction relief. See Buenoano v. Dugger, 559

So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 1990). As such, the lower court correctly denied this claim.

### X. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM REGARDING JUROR INTERVIEWS AND JUROR MISCONDUCT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Defendant contends that the rule prohibiting defense counsel or his representative from interviewing jurors, to explore misconduct, should be declared invalid. This claim should have been raised on direct appeal, and as such is procedurally barred. See e.g., Shere v. State, 579 So. 2d 86, 94-95 (Fla. 1991) (claims with respect to jury interviews are a direct appeal issue); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 ("This rule does not authorize relief based upon grounds which could have or should have been raised at trial, and, if properly preserved, on direct appeal of the judgment and sentence.").

## XI. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM REGARDING IMPERMISSIBLE VICTIM IMPACT TESTIMONY IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND NON-MERITORIOUS.

Defendant contends that he was denied ineffective assistance of counsel of trial and appellate counsel's failure to object to the impermissible victim impact testimony pursuant to Payne v. Tennessee, 111 S. Ct. 2597 (1991). However, Defendant did not raise this issue in his 3.850 motion, and therefore may not raise it in the appeal of the lower court's denial of his 3.850 motion. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1998). Additionally,

this claim was raised in Defendant's direct appeal and rejected by this Court without discussion. *Rodriguez*, 609 So. 2d at 500. Thus, this claim is procedurally barred.

Moreover, while ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is not properly raised on a 3.850 appeal, appellate counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to litigate a claim, which in fact, appellate counsel litigated. Nonetheless, this claim is without merit. The trial court stated that although he would not consider the family member's testimony as an aggravating factor, he thought they were entitled to be heard. (D.A.R. 1727-28). Furthermore, this Court in Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 329 (Fla. 1995), specifically upheld victim impact evidence:

In Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 2609, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991), the United States Supreme Court held that "if the State chooses to permit the admission of victim impact evidence and prosecutorial subject, the arqument on that Amendment erects no per se bar." Florida's legislature has specifically provided for the admission of victim impact evidence "to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death." 921.141(7), Sec. Fla.Stat. (Supp.1992). Even though section 921.141(7) did not become effective until eight months after the instant offense occurred, application in this case does not violate the constitutional prohibition against ex post facto laws. See Windom v. State, 656 So.2d (Fla.1995)(finding that 921.141(7) only relates to admission of evidence and is procedural and thus does not

violate prohibition against ex post facto laws).

Hence, this claim is without procedurally barred, unsupported by the record, and without merit and should therefore be denied.

### XII. DEFENDANT'S CUMULATIVE ERROR ARGUMENT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant alleges a catchall claim that due to all of the various errors alleged in the previous claims, that he was denied a fair trial. An appellant must allege specific deficiencies erroneously denied by the lower court to plead a facially sufficient claim for relief. Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998); Williams v. State, 553 So. 2d 309 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). To the extent that Defendant individually alleges errors in his other claims, the State addresses such arguments supra. However, this claim has only generally alleged issues which could have or should have been raised on direct appeal. As such, this is not proper for a motion for post-conviction relief and is procedurally barred. Accordingly, this claim should be denied.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court's order denying Defendant post conviction relief should be affirmed.